FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By \_\_\_\_\_\_\_
Chief Deputy Clerk

SID J. WHITE

NOV 16 1994

TIMES PUBLISHING COMPANY, a Florida Corporation d/b/a ST. PETERSBURG TIMES,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 84,513

RICHARD AKE, as CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

George K. Rahdert
Florida Bar No. 213365
Patricia Fields Anderson
Florida bar No. 352871
Alison M. Steele
Florida Bar No. 701106
RAHDERT & ANDERSON
535 Central Avenue
St. Petersburg, FL 33701
Telephone: (813) 823-4191
Fax: (813) 823-6189

Counsel for Petitioner

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Times Publishing Company has invoked this Court's jurisdiction based on a question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal of Florida as one of great public importance. This case centers on the proper course of action to be taken by a public official who is presented with a request to inspect and copy records in his custody.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The litigation below began when the Times requested the Clerk's cooperation, pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes (commonly known as the Florida Public Records Act), in its inspection and copying of certain records created and maintained by the Clerk's office. The records were not court files. The content of the records was, for the most part, docket information concerning criminal and probate division cases in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit. The majority of the records were contained on magnetic computer tape.

## A. The Requests for Records.

On or about March 12, 1992, the Times staff writer Bob Port delivered to the Clerk three written requests to inspect and copy certain records prepared and maintained by his office for the most

Times, and its Tampa edition, The Times, is referred to in this Brief as "the Times." Respondent Richard Ake, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida, is referred to herein as "the Clerk." "R. \_ " designates a reference to the Record on Appeal. "T. \_ " designates a reference to transcripts of hearing within the Record on Appeal, which are indexed separately from the other Record papers.

part on computer-readable magnetic tape. (R. 12-19). The first request sought:

the electronic records which comprise [the Clerk's] probate, guardianship, trust and mental health database [,including] all records, all tables and all files from this database for all the years since it was created.

 $(R. 12-14).^2$ The Times informed the Clerk that it desired to inspect and copy the records by obtaining a "data dump" of the raw data comprising the records into a portable computer with a ninetrack magnetic tape drive. As the Times explained in its request, an employee of the Clerk's office had previously informed the Times that the records were stored in a "proprietary," "non-standard" and "unique" format. Accordingly, the Times requested that the records be "reformatted," using the Clerk's Hewlett Packard "utility package," into a standard computer format readable by the Times and general public. (The Times believed the "utility package" had been purchased by the Clerk along with the software which had created the record-storage format in the first place.) The Times agreed to pay a "reasonable, pre-determined charge for this service," and specifically excluded from its request the data processing software and security codes. (R.13).

The Times' second request to inspect records sought:

[the Clerk's] magnetic tapes containing the most recent computer back-up of all files that comprise the Hillsborough County Criminal Justice Information System

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>These records became commonly referred to by the parties as "the Probate Database."

since the system was established in August 1988, but not records of earlier systems. (R. 15-16). The request specifically exempted from its scope the records of outstanding capiases, made confidential by an order of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit's Chief Judge. (R. 15).

The Hillsborough County Criminal Justice Information System was created a number of years ago using a computer program originated by other counties' clerks of court which was not copyrighted or proprietary. A relatively simple computer program, the Criminal Justice System program organized its data using a "flat file structure," meaning the data is organized and sorted within the computer program by case, each case having its own file within the program, (not unlike the way files are stored in folders in a file cabinet, each file containing all the information relating to a specific case). It is different from the computer program utilized for the other database the Times requested, the "Probate Database."

The computer program used by the Clerk in creating the Probate Database was created by Hewlett Packard. The program was a newer, more sophisticated software technology, which stored its data by category, for example, "judges," or "attorneys." When the program was asked to bring forth the docket information concerning a particular case, the program would cause the computer to reach into each category of information (judges, case numbers, attorneys, styles, etc.) and pull out the data relating to that case.

Prior to the Times requests for "data dumps," the Clerk

created computer programs for the extraction of information in the forms requested by various branches of Hillsborough County's government, but had a policy against doing so for members of the public.

The Times' third request of March 12, 1992, was for certain bond estreature cards kept by the Clerk's criminal division. The request specifically sought in redacted form only, those cards which the Clerk was withholding in their entirety based on a sealing or expunction order entered by the court in the particular criminal case involved. The Times simply requested that the Clerk excise from the cards the information deemed exempt by the Clerk and deliver the remainder of the cards to the Times. (R. 17-19). The number of records called for by this request was minuscule, none were computerized, and they have never been of central concern in this case. This case centers on the computerized criminal and probate databases.

## B. The Clerk's Response.

Instead of supplying the records requested or informing the Times what charges he would seek for providing the data, the Clerk responded to the Times' requests by suing the Times. Filed on March 20, 1992, the Clerk's Complaint for Declaratory Judgment sought a judicial pronouncement of the Clerk's obligations under the Florida Public Records Act. (R.1-19). In six counts, alleging he was "in doubt" about his duties under Chapter 119, the Clerk sought judicial direction concerning:

- whether Chapter 119 applied to the Clerk of Court given this Court's opinion in Locke v.

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992);

- whether the Clerk was "required" to supply the "proprietary file structure" organizing the raw data contained in the computer tapes;
- whether the Clerk must "reformat" his computer-tape contained data at the Times' request, and whether he must accelerate the completion date of his then-ongoing project to reformat the data so it could be read and used by the general public, instead of just the Clerk;
- whether the Times "had agreed" to pay the "full expense" of this "reformatting" and whether the Clerk was required to reassign his employees to this project in order to accomplish it;
- whether the Clerk was "authorized" to convert his computer data using his personnel and equipment and to permit the Times to use "public" space and electricity to obtain the data;
- whether raw data stored by the Clerk on magnetic computer tape is a "public record" within the terms of Chapter 119;
- whether the Clerk was "authorized" to produce bond estreature cards which related to court records that had been sealed or expunged pursuant to section 943.058, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1991).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The "proprietary file structure" had not been requested. (R. 12-17).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The Times had already agreed to pay a reasonable, predetermined charge (R. 12-17), but the Clerk never indicated any amount before filing suit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In March 1992, shortly after filing the Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, the Clerk provided to the Times, at no charge the 11 volumes of magnetic computer tapes comprising the criminal justice database. (T-44; R. 265-67; R.288-290). Nevertheless, the Clerk neither withdrew any portion of his Complaint nor informed the court that he had resolved any of the "doubts" asserted in his complaint as grounds for relief, not even at the hearing on the Times' motion to dismiss, where the Times asserted there was no

## C. The Ensuing Litigation

Citing, inter alia, Rule 2.050(b)(4) of the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration, the Times moved the court to request the Chief Judge of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit to seek the Florida Supreme Court Chief Justice's transfer and reassignment of the case to a judge outside of the Thirteenth Circuit, in light of the Plaintiff-Clerk's responsibilities to the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit's judges, his on-going contact with them as a necessity of his job, and the Florida Bar Code of Judicial Conduct's admonitions against appearances of impropriety. (R. 31-39). The Clerk opposed the motion and it was denied. (R. 42-47; 71).

The Times also moved to dismiss the Clerk's complaint on the ground that it failed to present a justiciable controversy, citing Department of Revenue v. Markham, 396 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), and Askew v. City of Ocala, 348 So.2d 308 (Fla 1977). (R. 20-30). The Clerk opposed the motion, and the motion was denied in an order rendered August 14, 1992. (R. 72-80; 81-82).

Thereafter the Times filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses (R. 103-109) and its Counter-Complaint against the Clerk, asserting that the records at issue were subject to inspection under the

justiciable controversy between the parties. (T. 18-68).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Among the circumstances which may have given rise to appearances of impropriety or which may have disrupted collegial relations among the judges of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, the Times cited its multi-part series of news stories appearing in late 1991 and February 1992 focusing on Florida's sealing and expuction law and the judges of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit and the responses engendered by that reporting. (R. 35, 38).

Florida Public Records Act, but that if for some reason, either the Clerk or the subject records were not governed by Chapter 119, then the records were judicial records which could only be withheld from public inspection based on a court order or orders consistent with Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), and Barron v. Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc., 531 So.2d 113 (Fla. 1988). (R. 86-102). The Clerk answered and discovery ensued. (R. 110; 111-115; 116-119; 120-126).

On March 23, 1993, the trial court held a case management conference. (R. 127-128; 133-137). The Clerk advised the court that in his view, October 29, 1992 amendments to the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration "resolved the issues raised by Count I of [his] Complaint." (R. 133). In addition, the Clerk advised the Court that he had written a software program enabling him to make available to the Times and the public the computerized information revealing in the Probate Database without contained "proprietary file structure and security information." (R. 133-34). At the conclusion of the status conference, the court entered its order reciting that the issues remaining for determination were (1) whether the Clerk "is authorized" to produce bond estreature cards that "are part of sealed or expunged court files"; (2) whether the Clerk was entitled to impose a service charge for producing the Probate Database, and if so, whether his proposed charge was "reasonable" pursuant to section 119.07(1)(b) of the

 $<sup>\</sup>ensuremath{^{7}\text{The}}$  Clerk's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for More Definite Statement were never heard by the Court.

Florida Statutes; and (3) whether the Times was entitled to an award of attorney's fees. (R. 133-137).

Subsequently, the Times withdrew its request for disputed bond estreature cards and the parties reached agreement concerning the Clerk's proposed service charge. (R. 136-37). On May 18, 1993 the case proceeded to final hearing on the Times' request for attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to section 119.12 of the Florida Statutes (1991). (R. 138; T-18-68).

On June 17, 1993, the trial court rendered its order denying the Times' request, finding that "the Clerk's denial of the Times' request [for records] pursuant to ... Chapter 119 did not constitute an unlawful refusal under ... §119.12." (R. 373-374).

D. The appellate proceedings below.

On July 15, 1993, the Times filed its notice of appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal of Florida. (R. 375). $^{8}$ 

On June 29, 1994, the Second District Court of Appeal issued its opinion affirming the trial court's decision. The District Court reasoned that "the judiciary, as a co-equal branch of government, is not an 'agency' subject to the supervision or control by another co-equal branch of government" and, therefore, Chapter 119 did not apply to it. Slip Op. at 3. The court further stated: "The clerk, when acting in the exercise of his duties derived from article V [of the Florida Constitution], is acting as

 $<sup>^{8}{</sup>m The}$  trial court entered its final order removing the case from "pending status" on July 15, 1993.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Times Publishing Co. v. Ake, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1407 (Fla. 2d DCA June 29, 1994).

an arm of the court and, as such, is immune from the supervisory authority of the legislature." Op. at 5. The court concluded that, "because chapter 119 does not apply to judicial records nor to the clerk of the circuit court in his capacity as the court's record keeper" the trial court did not err in denying the Times' request for attorneys' fees below. (Slip Op. at 1-2, 5).

On July 13, 1994, the Times filed its Motion for Rehearing, for Rehearing En Banc, and for Certification of Questions of Great Public Importance. Among other authorities, the Times pointed out Article I, section 24 of the Florida Constitution, which the district court did not appear to have considered in reaching its decision. In addition, the Times sought, inter alia, certification of the following questions:

- (a) Are the records maintained by the Clerk of Court subject to the inspection and copying requirements of Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes?
- (b) Is a member of the public entitled to recover attorneys' fees pursuant to section 119.12 of the Florida Statutes (1993) when a public official institutes litigation pursuant to Chapter 119 and the member of the public ultimately obtains the records?
- (c) Does a public official of this State, such as the Clerk of Court, have standing to file a declaratory judgment action as a response to a request to inspect records by a member of the public?

The Clerk opposed the Motion. On September 23, 1994, the District Court filed its Opinion on Motion for Rehearing, 10 denying the

<sup>10</sup> Times Publishing Co. v. Ake, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2024 (Fla. 2d DCA Sept. 23, 1994).

Times' motion in part, but granting it to certify the following question as one of great public importance:

Are the court records maintained by the Clerk of the Circuit Court subject to the inspection and copying requirements of Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes?

On October 7, 1994, the Times filed its Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At the time this litigation began, Article I, section 24 of the Florida Constitution had not been adopted and this Court had not promulgated Rule 2.051, Fla.R.Jud.Admin. However, neither the constitutional amendment nor Rule 2.051 established a new category of records subject to public inspection. Rather, they formalized and rendered less vulnerable to erosion Florida's long-standing policy of open government. In March 1992 -- as today -- the computerized records requested by the Times were and are either records of an agency subject to inspection and copying under Chapter 119 or were and are judicial records, and therefore subject to inspection and copying under the open records mandates of Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), and Barron v. Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc., 531 So.2d 113 (Fla. 1988). There was and is no third category into which the records could have fallen rendering them secret and exempt from disclosure to the public. In the face of only two categories of precedent to choose from, both of which rendered the computerized records at issue open and available to the public, the Clerk, whose duties by law are ministerial and not discretionary, sued the member of the

public who requested the records.

This Court should reframe the question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal to reflect the nature of the actual records at issue in this case -- computerized dockets created and maintained by the Clerk -- and should answer it affirmatively: such records are subject to Chapter 119.

However, if this Court holds that computerized dockets are judicial records not subject to inspection under Chapter 119, the Court should still examine the consequences of a public official's failure to permit inspection of records which are nevertheless open to the public. The Court should reaffirm its earlier decisions in Dep't. of Revenue v. Markham, 396 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), and Askew v. City of Ocala, 348 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1977), and hold that a public official does not have standing to file a declaratory judgment action when presented with a citizen's request for access to records. The Court should also hold that in this case, because the Clerk filed his declaratory judgment action questioning the applicability of Chapter 119 and seeking to withhold the requested records based on exemptions from and interpretations of Chapter 119, and because the Times filed its countersuit and eventually obtained the records it requested, the Clerk should pay the Times attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to section 119.12, Fla. Stat. (1991).

#### **ARGUMENT**

The question framed by the district court below does not take into account the actual records involved in this case -- the

electronic dockets created by the Clerk of Court, which he is directed to create and maintain by Chapter 28 of the Florida Statutes. This case does not involve court files or access to court files, contrary to the certified question's implications.

This Court is respectfully requested to consider the actual records at issue below, the method the Clerk adopted for addressing a member of the public's requests for copies of the records, and the implications of endorsing a public policy permitting a government official to sue a citizen who has requested copies of government records and, then avoid reimbursing the citizen for the expenses of the litigation when the official ultimately furnishes the records requested.

# I. The Clerk's dockets were properly open to public inspection and copying when the Times requested them, and the Clerk was not entitled to withhold them.

The principle that citizens in a self-governing, democratic society should have access to the records and proceedings of its courts and the other branches of government has long been endorsed and protected by this Court. The principle finds expression and protection in history and tradition, in the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, in the long-standing common law of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>See <u>Richmond Newspapers</u>, <u>Inc. v. Virginia</u>, 448 U.S. 555, 100 S.Ct. 2814 (1980).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 U.S. 1,10 (1986); Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 596, 102 S.Ct. 2613 (1982).

this State, 13 and in Florida's century-old Sunshine Laws. 14

Of course, citizens' access to court files and courtroom proceedings has long been protected from legislative or other abridgment in Florida by the principles enunciated in such cases as State ex rel. Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. McIntosh, Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), and Barron v. Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc., 531 So.2d 113 (Fla. 1988). These cases make clear that before access to court records or proceedings is denied, there must be a specific order meeting the terms of a three-part test, which the proponent of closure must satisfy.

Were court files -- indictments, pleadings, motions, orders and the like -- at issue in this case, the discussion would end with these principles. However, the records at issue below were not court files and did not fall within the definition of "court records" existing in the court rules in effect in March 1992. See Rule 2.075, Fla.R.Jud.Admin. ("the contents of the court file, depositions filed with the clerk, transcripts, exhibits in the custody of the clerk, and electronic, video tape and stenographic tapes of depositions or other proceedings"). In fact, the records at issue were those the legislature had directed the Clerk to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>State ex rel. Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. McIntosh, 340 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1976), and cases cited therein.

<sup>14</sup>Chapters 119 and 286 of the Florida Statutes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>The rule did not and does not address public access to the records, but instead the clerk of court's retention and destruction of the records.

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