FILED SLOJ. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DEC 12 1994

By \_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

TIMES PUBLISHING COMPANY, a Florida corporation d/b/a, THE ST. PETERSBURG TIMES,

#### Petitioner,

CASE NO.: 84,513

v.

RICHARD AKE, as CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

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

Since the legislature requires Clerks to keep dockets in Chapter 28, the Times, without analysis, summarily concludes the "clerk" falls within the Section 119.011(2) definition of "agency", thereby subjecting these records maintained by the Clerk to Chapter 119. (See Times Brief, p. 14).

The Times now ignores that the Clerk is an Article V officer.<sup>22</sup> In its Comments to Rule 2.051 Proposed Amendments, the Times admits the Clerk is within the judicial branch. The Times admits the Clerk's dual role in its Answer and Motion for Reassignment of Case.

> The Clerk is both a court officer, pursuant to Article V ... and an officer of the County pursuant to Article VIII, ... [R]ecords of the Clerk ... as an officer of the County are

<sup>22</sup>See <u>Alachua County v. Powers</u>, 351 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1977).

subject to Chapter 119 ... and ... court records are subject to the Court's authority ... (R. 105).

Thus, the court records maintained by the Clerk as an Article V officer are subject to judicial authority. The court has the inherent and exclusive constitutional authority over its agencies. <u>Corbin v. State ex rel Slaughter</u>, 324 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975).

The Clerk's Complaint cited <u>Locke</u> which held that Chapter 119 did not apply to the Legislature, thereby raising doubts as to whether it applied to the judicial branch. The House of Representatives argued that the plain language of Chapter 119 showed it was not intended to apply to the legislative branch and that the phrase "created or established by law" in the Section 119.011 definition of "agency" no more applied to the legislature than to the judiciary. <u>Id.</u> at 35.

This Court held that

Section 119.011's definition of 'agency' does not, by its terms, include the legislature or its members. In common usage, 'agency' is not understood to include a basic branch of We find that, if the government ... legislature and its members were intended to be covered, it would have said so. Expressio unius est exclusio alterius. 'Where a statute enumerates the things on which it is to operate, or forbids certain things, it is ordinarily to be construed as excluding from operation all those not <u>expressly</u> its mentioned. Id. at 36.

In common usage, then, "agency" should not be understood to include the judicial branch of government.<sup>23</sup> Locke, as understood by the Second District, means that Chapter 119 does not apply to the judicial branch or its records either. This confirmed the reasonableness of Count I of the Clerk's Complaint.

Both the legislature and the judiciary govern the Clerk's duties with respect to court records. Parties may seek to close presumptively open court records. <u>Barron</u>. It is not the Clerk who establishes the status of records as either "public" or "confidential." The Clerk is a ministerial officer carrying out legislative or judicial directives.

The Times' alternative argument is that if the computer backup tapes are court records, then

This court's decisions in <u>Barron v. Florida</u> <u>Freedom Newspapers, Inc.</u>, 531 So.2d 113 (Fla. 1988) (as to civil court records) and <u>Miami</u> <u>Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis</u>, 426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982) (as to criminal court records) clearly hold all <u>court records</u> are presumed open to the public <u>unless sealed by court</u> <u>order upon specific findings meeting the tests</u> <u>set forth in those cases</u>. (emphasis added) Brief at p. 17.

This is precisely why the Clerk declined to produce copies of the Cards.

<u>Barron</u> recognizes that the law has established many exceptions. The Court said:

While a strong presumption of openness in judicial proceedings exists, the law has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>The legislature has included the judicial branch within some definitions of "agency." See Fla. Stat. Section 112.312(2). In other definitions, it has not. See Fla. Stat., Section 120.52(1).

established numerous exceptions to protect competing interests. <u>Barron</u>, p. 117.

... Florida, as a matter of public policy, has expressly made certain civil proceedings confidential (adoptions, §63.162, Fla. Stat. (1987); paternity, §742.031, Fla. Stat. (1987); juvenile proceedings, §39.09 and 39.408, Fla. Stat. (1987). <u>Id.</u>, p. 119.

In this case, the Times had access to all open court files not otherwise already confidential by law.

<u>Barron</u> did not deal with the issues here, a request for copies of disaster recovery backup tapes containing data processing software, security measures, proprietary file structures, and confidential court case data which could not be deleted, and for the tapes to be converted to suit the Times' needs. <u>Barron</u> does not discuss computers, confidential records, a records custodian's legal duty to convert, or attorney's fees and costs. <u>Miami Herald</u>, dealing with closure of criminal court <u>proceedings</u> to protect a defendant's right to a fair trial, is not on point.

The Times says the Clerk produced copies of computer tapes of the Probate database with confidential data processing software and confidential data "masked". The Times wanted copies of the Backup Tapes converted so that the Times' IBM computer could read them. Clerk MIS staff created new software to implement the capability of producing HP compatible tapes which were then available to the public. If the tapes were "maskings" of the Backup Tapes requested by the Times, it took the Times a long time to withdraw its request for the Backup Tapes themselves and decide to purchase the New

Tapes. The Backup Tapes have not and will not be made available in the absence of a court order.

The Times implies the Clerk used Rule 2.051 as a pretext to do what he should have done in March, 1992. From March, 1992 to October 29, 1992, the only case or Attorney General Opinion that provided any guidance with regard to the circumstances faced by the Seigle. Under Seigle, records custodian have Clerk was discretionary authority to perform specialized programming, or a court may require a records custodian to do so after fact-finding. The Clerk declined to perform specialized programming and sought guidance in accordance with Seigle. No court rulings about the Backup Tapes had been made before adoption of the Rule.

In adopting the Rule<sup>24</sup>, the Supreme Court said:

The amendments to the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration are, in part, designed to clarify the rules on public access to the records of the judicial branch of government and its agencies.

The Rule clarified that (1) "court records" are judicial records, not Chapter 119 records; (2) the Clerk in his Article V role as a judicial officer; and (3) the Rule governs access to judicial records on all media.

If the judicial branch were an "agency" within the meaning of Chapter 119 and subject to Chapter 119, then there was no need for Rule 2.051. Chapter 119 <u>must</u> have been inapplicable to the judicial branch and its records. The Clerk's doubt that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>The Rule was promulgated pursuant to Article V, Section 2; it would govern even if the constitutional amendment had <u>not</u> been approved.

judicial branch and its records were within the Section 119.011(2) definition of "agency" proved not only reasonable, but correct.

The Times says the Clerk produced the Criminal Tapes before adoption of the Rule. As discussed earlier<sup>25</sup>, the Criminal Tapes were produced for copying shortly after the Complaint was filed, without specialized programming and without a court order.

The Times says that the Rule's definition of "judicial records" tracks that of "public records" in Chapter 119, concluding that the electronic dockets are certainly subject to inspection and copying under this rule.<sup>26</sup> The definitions are similar; however, Rule 2.051's definition expressly mentions the judicial branch, court records, court rule, and the Clerk. Chapter 119 expressly does not.

A copy of the Backup Tapes still cannot be produced because it is impossible to delete the data processing software, security measures and confidential court case data from them and have a copy be meaningful; moreover, <u>Seigle</u> does not impose an absolute rule permitting access.

The Times says it is ironical that the Clerk suggested Chapter 119 did not apply to the Backup Tapes yet he asserted Chapter 119 sensitive software exemptions and relied on Section 119.085 to implement the Public Access Network. The Clerk had doubts about the applicability of Chapter 119 to court records

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>See earlier discussion, page 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>We agree, though this argument seems to contradict the Times' argument in the Summary on page 10, and pages 13 and 14.

and security concerns about providing the proprietary file structure, whether they were court records or Chapter 119 records. If the Court had ruled Chapter 119 applied to the Backup Tapes, security concerns would still exist.

The Times concludes by arguing that the amendment and Rule 2.051 leave no doubt that the Clerk never should have filed the Complaint. The amendment and the Rule confirm that Chapter 119 does not apply to the judicial branch. Neither the amendment nor the Rule address whether the Clerk had to reveal the proprietary file structure, had to reformat to suit the Times' computer, and had to produce sealed or expunged estreature cards.

# A. All computer records are not public, any more than all paper records are public.

The Times' entire argument in this section assumes Chapter 119 applies to judicial records. Because judicial records are subject to Rule 2.051, not Chapter 119, the cases and Attorney General Opinions cited by the Times are not on point.

The Times alleges the Clerk exploited technology to keep the Backup Tapes confidential as if the Clerk had an improper motive in preserving the security of all records, protecting confidential records as required by law, and using modern software.<sup>27</sup> The Times cites attorney general opinions to prove information on magnetic tape is public. That data is on magnetic tape does not necessarily mean the data is public any more than that information is on paper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Times' counsel had praised the Clerk for his commitment to public access to public records. (R. 173).

necessarily means the information is public. Content, not form, is determinative. <u>Barron</u>.

Backup tapes are prepared to "perpetuate knowledge" not for public access, as the Times argues, but for the limited purpose of restoring the online System. Because of their nature, purpose and content, they cannot be produced, nor can they be purged of their confidential matter.

The Times cites <u>Seigle</u> arguing that the Clerk's selection of software meant he was legally obligated to convert the Backup Tapes to make them readable by the Times' different software, especially since the Times "offered" to pay the costs. <u>Seigle</u> held

> Access by the use of a specially designed program prepared by or at the expense of the applicant may obviously be permitted in the discretion of the public official and pursuant to Section 119.07(1). In the event of refusal of the public official to permit access in this manner, the circuit court may permit access pursuant to the same statutory restraints where:

> (1) available programs do not access all of the public records stored in the computer's data banks; or

> (2) the information in the computer accessible by the use of available programs would include exempt information necessitating a special program to delete such exempt items; or

> (3) for any reason the form in which the information is proffered does not fairly and meaningfully represent the records; or

(4) the court determines other exceptional circumstances exist warranting this special remedy. <u>Id.</u> at 66-67.

In this case, the Clerk declined to do the specialized programming requested by the Times. The Clerk, aware of <u>Seigle</u>

(R. 7), sought a court determination whether specialized programming was required. Even if the court had required the Clerk to convert the Backup Tapes from one ANSI standard format to another, the Clerk's actions would still not have been <u>per se</u> unlawful. The trial court never ruled whether conversion was required because the Times withdrew its request.

The Times says the Backup Tapes are in "Swahili" and "in code" because the Times' IBM computer cannot read HP tapes. (R. 13, 106). The record shows they are not in code, they are in an ANSI standard format. The Clerk was not and still is not under any legal duty to perform conversion which would have required <u>additional</u> specialized programming even after the New Tapes were prepared.

The problem is not the HP software that the Clerk selected. Even if the Clerk fortuitously used IBM compatible database management software, the Clerk still could not have copied the Backup Tapes because they still would have contained confidential data processing software, security measures and confidential court case data.<sup>28</sup>

The Times alleges the Clerk created "an entire records system" without providing public access. The Times cites no case in support of its claim that the Constitution or common law require access to the Backup Tapes. Public access to these court records is provided through the court files themselves, computer screens, hard copy reports, and the Public Access Network. Had the Times

<sup>28</sup>R. 305, 332.

not withdrawn its request for the Backup Tapes, this issue would still be in dispute.

B. The Clerk was not required to produce the Backup Tapes themselves.

The Times says the "questions of what an agency must do when asked for copies of computerized records infused with sensitive software already had been answered when the Clerk filed suit." The Times cites Sections 119.07(2)(a), 119.07(3)(q), 119.085, Op. Att'y. Gen. Fla. 84-3 and 91-74, and <u>Seigle</u> in support.

The Times' argument focuses on Chapter 119. However, it argued in its Brief at page 20 that the Backup Tapes are governed by Rule 2.051. It argued they were judicial records in its Comments to Rule 2.051 Proposed Amendments.<sup>29</sup>

The Backup Tapes contain data processing software, security measures, and the proprietary file structure that organizes the data. The security measures cannot be deleted from the Backup Tapes. Thus, the law was not clear whether the Clerk was obligated to produce the Backup Tapes which contain the proprietary file structure.

<u>Seigle</u> says a records custodian may decline to do specialized programming; however, a court <u>may</u> require a records custodian to do so when other exceptional circumstances warrant a special remedy. The Clerk acted lawfully in declining to produce the Backup Tapes and in seeking judicial guidance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>See footnote 17.

The Times says the Clerk was instituting "a remote electronic access system [the Public Access Network] to make the computerized records at issue available for public inspection" and that he was converting his records to the Network to avoid the Times' request.

The argument is incorrect and misleading. Section 119.085 permits remote electronic access as an additional means of inspection and copying. The Clerk has never suggested that the Public Access Network is the only means of access to court records. The Clerk questioned whether he was required to expedite adding Probate court case data to the Network if the court found specialized programming was not required under <u>Seigle</u>.

The Public Access Network manifests the Clerk's intent to promote public access by using public resources judiciously. The "records at issue" were copies of the Backup Tapes and the Cards. The online Systems are the source of data for the Network. The Online System does not provide "access" to data processing software, security measures or proprietary file structures, although it uses them. The Clerk instituted the Network to provide the public an additional means of obtaining information.

The Times argues the Clerk produced the Criminal Tapes and did not claim its software was sensitive or exempt. He did not because the Criminal tapes are in a flat file format, do not contain sensitive software and therefore could be copied, after deletion of confidential cases and data<sup>30</sup>, without specialized programming.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>See Rule 3.140(1).

## II. Public Officials Have Standing to Bring Declaratory Actions.

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